# **Chapter 14 Genomic Region Analysis and Genome Editing for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals**



Sumit Jangra, Priti, Vrantika Chaudhary, Apurva Mishra, Ram C. Yadav, and Neelam R. Yadav

#### Contents

14.1	Introduction	316		
14.2	Genomic Regions/QTLs for Cereal Grain Quality Improvement	317		
14.3	QTLs for pro-Vitamin A	317		
14.4	QTLs for Iron (Fe) and Zinc (Zn) Content	318		
14.5	QTLs for Amino Acids and Grain Protein Content	322		
14.6	Commercial Varieties with Improved Nutritional Value	322		
14.7	Genome Editing (GE)	323		
14.8	Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)	324		
14.9	TALENs	325		
14.10	CRISPR/ Cas9	328		
14.11	CRISPR/Cas for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals	330		
14.12	Maize (Zea Mays)	330		
14.13	Rice ( <i>Oryza Sativa</i> )	332		
14.14	Wheat	334		
14.15	Barley (Hordeum Vulgare)	334		
14.16	Sorghum (Sorghum Bicolor)	335		
14.17	Conclusion and Future Prospects	335		
References				

S. Jangra (⊠) · Priti

Advanced Centre for Plant Virology, Division of Plant Pathology, ICAR-Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, India

Department of Molecular Biology, Biotechnology, and Bioinformatics, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India

V. Chaudhary · R. C. Yadav · N. R. Yadav Department of Molecular Biology, Biotechnology, and Bioinformatics, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India

A. Mishra

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Arsuaga-Vazquez Lab, UC Davis, Davis, USA

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7\_14

### 14.1 Introduction

Cereals are the principal stable crops for global population and thus are the primary source of micronutrients. However, cereals have a low level of micronutrients, and majority of them are lost during processing. Around two billion people mainly in Africa, South Asia, and Latin America suffer from malnutrition or nutrient deficiency which is responsible for the death of around 24,000 people daily all over the globe (Majumder et al. 2019). To achieve nutrient security, fortification of food, especially cereals, is necessary owing to the primary source of energy and nutrition in human diet. The availability of biofortified staple food crops would be a sustainable approach to provide a nutritious diet to people having limited access to variable dietary resources.

The principal aim of the breeders is to improve the yield potential of the cereals. Improving grain nutritional quality of cereals to attain nutritional security seems to be a newer area for breeders. Conventional and molecular approaches have enabled the breeder to develop cereals with higher micronutrients. QTLs for various micronutrients, identified in rice, maize, wheat, barley, and pearl millet, have been introgressed to develop improved versions of these cereals (Mahender et al. 2016; Govindaraj et al. 2019; Gaikwad et al. 2020; Saini et al. 2020; Prasanna et al. 2020; Swamy et al. 2021). HarvestPlus, a program under CGIAR (Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research), is working on development of biofortified crops in low- and middle-income countries. Under this program, cereals like maize, wheat, rice, and pearl millet along with other important crops have been biofortified (Bouis and Saltzman 2017). The biofortified crops developed under this program are being planted by over 8.5 million farmers across Africa, Asia, and Latin America (https://www.harvestplus.org). With the combined efforts of HarvestPlus and the institutions working with it, over 300 varieties of biofortified crops have been released for commercial cultivation in 40 developing nations using conventional and molecular breeding. A successful biofortified cereal in addition to enhanced nutritional value must be high yielding and acceptable to stakeholders.

In some cases, germplasm lacks the genetic variability in the desired trait for biofortification. Therefore, genetic modification (GM) of crops is a possible way to overcome the problem. GM technology involves introduction of the desired trait from the novel source (Yadav et al. 2018). With the low acceptability of GM crops, the ongoing agricultural practices are struggling to meet the nutrient security of the increasing global population (Rani et al. 2021; Jangra et al. 2021a, b). GE has emerged as a potential tool to overcome the challenges associated with the current crop improvement technologies. GE-assisted breeding has been successfully employed to modify the trait of interest in various crop plants without introduction of any foreign gene. In a very short time, GE had a great impact on crop improvement with its high precision and efficient genetic modification (Chen et al. 2019). The era of GE began with the introduction of double-stranded breaks (DSBs) at specific sites using endonucleases like zinc figure nucleases (Kim et al. 1996), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) (Christian et al. 2010), and

clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated 9 (Cas9) (Jinek et al. 2012). Since its development, GE has been employed to improve various crop plants (Park et al. 2019). Recently, there is an exponential increase in the utilization of GE for crop improvement. In this chapter, we will be focusing on the advancements made in the field of grain quality improvement in cereals using genomic regions/QTLs and GE.

# 14.2 Genomic Regions/QTLs for Cereal Grain Quality Improvement

The primary requirement for breeding biofortified crops is to look into the available germplasm to identify genomic regions with higher micronutrient content. The wild relatives of the crop plants are a rich source of various micronutrients and therefore can be utilized in the breeding program. The quality traits are polygenic and are controlled by several genes. Therefore, improvement of these traits through conventional breeding is quite difficult (Jangra et al. 2017; Jangra et al. 2018). The advancement in molecular marker technology has gained the interest of plant breeders to improve crop plants against complex traits. Molecular markers can be employed to identify the exact location of the genomic region/ QTL, determining the trait for nutritional quality. Once identified, these QTLs can be introgressed to elite cultivars/ varieties. OTL mapping based on biparental mapping populations is found to be less significant. However, genome wide-association mapping studies (GWAS) utilized the diverse germplasm which offers a large number of variations. The extent of linkage disequilibrium determines the marker-trait association. The identified markers linked to the target trait can be utilized in the breeding program to improve the crop plants. The overview of crop improvement based on genomic regions/ QTLs is denoted in Fig. 14.1.

### 14.3 QTLs for pro-Vitamin A

Deficiency of vitamin A is responsible for irreversible loss of vision and is one of the serious health issues in developing nations. It has been reported that over 30% of children and 19 million pregnant women are facing the problem of vitamin A deficiency in developing nations (Duo et al. 2021). Two alleles, viz.  $\beta$ -carotene hydroxylase 1 (crtRB1) and lycopene epsilon cyclase (lcyE), have been identified which favors pro-vitamin A biosynthesis in maize (Muthusamy et al. 2015). This has gained the interest of researchers to identify QTLs related to pro-vitamin A content in maize. Maize is an important cereal and consumed across the globe. Several QTLs for vitamin A content have been identified in maize (Table 14.1) (Babu et al. 2013; Azmach et al. 2013).



Fig. 14.1 Schematic representation of QTL-mediated improvement of crop plants

# 14.4 QTLs for Iron (Fe) and Zinc (Zn) Content

Cereals consumed as food are deficient in various micronutrients including Fe and Zn (White and Broadley 2005). As per WHO reports, 30% of the global population are suffering from anemia. To overcome this problem, there is a need to develop cereals with higher Fe and Zn content. In the past few years, several mapping populations have been developed to identify QTLs associated with Fe and Zn content (Table 14.1). In wheat, QTLs for Fe and Zn content have been reported by several authors (Hao et al. 2014; Srinivasa et al. 2014; Tiwari et al. 2016; Crespo-Herrera et al. 2016; Velu et al. 2017, 2018; Gorafi et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2019). Similarly, in barley, QTLs for Fe and Zn were identified on chromosomes 6 and 2 (Mamo et al. 2014; Sadeghzadeh et al. 2015). In rice, several QTLs for Fe and Zn have been mapped on almost all chromosomes. Recently, two QTLs for Fe (qFe<sub>9.1</sub> and qFe<sub>12.1</sub>) and four QTLs for Zn (qZn<sub>1.1</sub>, qZn<sub>5.1</sub>, qZn<sub>9.1</sub>, and qZn<sub>12.1</sub>) content were identified in double haploid rice (Calayugan et al. 2020). Novel QTLs, qFe3.3 and qFe7.3 for Fe content and qZn2.2, qZn8.3, and qZn12.3 for Zn content, were identified using association mapping (Pradhan

Trait	Genomic region/QTLs	Chromosome	Crop	References
Vitamin A	LcyE5'TE, LcyE3'Indel, rtRB1–3'T,	10	Maize	Babu et al. (2013)
	PSY1, lcyE, crtRB1	10		Azmach et al. (2013)
Fe and Zn content	QGzncpk.cimmyt_2BL	2BL	Wheat	
	QZn.bhu_2B, QZn.bhu_6A, and QFe.bhu_3B	2B, 6A, 3B		Srinivasa et al. (2014)
	QZn.bhu_2B, QFe.bhu_2B	2B		Tiwari et al. (2016)
	QZn.Across_4BS, QFe. Across7DS	4BS, 7DS		Crespo-Herrera et al. (2016)
	QGzn.ada_1B, QGzn.sar_1B, QGFe.ada_2B	1B, 2B		Velu et al. (2017)
	QGFe.iari-2A, QGFe.iari-5A, QGFe.iari-7A and QGFe.iari-7B, QGZn.iari-2A, QGZn.iari-4A, QGZn.iari-5A, QGZn.iari-7A and QGZn.iari-7B	2A, 4A, 5A, 7A, 7B		Krishnappa et al. (2017)
	QZn 2A, QZn7B	2A, 7B		Velu et al. (2018)
	qFes1, qfes2, qZns1, qZns2	4D, 2D, 5D, 1D		Gorafi et al. (2018)
	QGZn.co-5A, QGZn.co-7A, QGFe.co-3B.1, QGFe.co-5A.2	5A, 7A, 3B		Liu et al. (2019)
	QZn.caas-1DS, QZn.caas-2AS, QZn.caas-3BS, QZn.caas-4DS, QZn.caas-6AS, QZn.caas-6DL, QZn.caas-7BL, QFe.caas-3BL, QFe.caas-4DS, QFe.caas-6AS, QFe.caas-7BL	1DS, 2AS, 3BS, 4DS, 6AS, 6DL, 7BL, 3BL		Wang et al. (2021a, b)
	Zn-qtl-6H_SCRI_RS_10655	6HL	Barley	Mamo et al. (2014)
	QTL.Zn	2HS, 2HL		Sadeghzadeh et al. (2015)
	Fe-2H-84.74, Fe-2H-139.62, Fe-4H-67.9, Fe-1H-54.5, Fe-1H-57.85, Fe-1H-90.04, Fe-2H-84.74, Fe-4H-53.87, E-4H-54.95, Fe-6H-102.03, Fe-7H-17.62, Zn-2H-87.34, Zn-1H-21.97, Zn-2H-148.16, Zn-2H-40.12, Zn-2H-86.84	2H, 4H, 1H, 4H, 6H, 7H		Gyawali et al. (2017)
	$qFe_2$ , $qZn_5$	2, 5	Rice	Zhang et al. (2014)
	<i>qFe</i> <sub>1.2</sub> (gene OsYSL1), <i>qFe</i> <sub>5.1</sub> (gene OsZIP6), <i>qFe</i> <sub>7.2</sub> (gene OsZIP8)	1, 5, 7		Agarwal et al. (2014)
	$qFe_6, qZn_8$	6, 8		Xu et al. (2015)

 Table 14.1
 List of genomic regions/ QTLs for grain quality in cereals

(continued)

Trait	Genomic region/QTLs	Chromosome	Crop	References
	$qFe_{10.1}, qZn_{6.2}, qZn_{7.1}$	10, 6, 7		Descalsota et al. (2018)
	<i>qFe</i> <sub>1.2</sub> , <i>qFe</i> <sub>11.1</sub> , <i>qZn</i> <sub>2.1</sub> , <i>qZn</i> <sub>3.2</sub> , <i>qFe</i> <sub>3.2</sub> , <i>qFe</i> <sub>4.1</sub> , <i>qZn</i> <sub>5.1</sub> , <i>qZn</i> <sub>12.1</sub>	1, 11, 2, 3, 4, 5, 12		Swamy et al. (2018)
	$\begin{array}{c} qFe_{1.1} qFe_{1.2}, qZn_{1.1}, qFe_{6.1}, qZn_{6.1}, \\ qFe_{6.2}, qZn_{6.2} \end{array}$	1,6		Dixit et al. (2019)
	QTL.Fe.9, QTL.Zn.4	9,4		Islam et al. (2020)
	$qFe_{3.3}, qFe_{7.3}, qZn_{2.2}, qZn_{8.3}, qZn_{12.3}$	3, 8, 12		Pradhan et al. (2020)
	$qFe_{9.1}, qFe_{12.1}, qZn_{1.1}, qZn_{5.1}, qZn_{9.1}, qZn_{1.2}$	9, 12, 1, 5		Calayugan et al. (2020)
	$qFe_7, qZn_7$	7		Jeong et al. (2020)
	qZPR. <sub>1.1</sub> , qZPR. <sub>11.1</sub>	1, 11		Suman et al. (2021)
	Fe, Zn	LG 3, 5, 7	Pearl millet	Kumar et al. (2016)
	Fe, Zn	LG 3, 5, 7		Anuradha et al. (2017)
	qFe1/54 and qZn1/54	LG 1, 7		Kumar et al. (2018)
	<i>PglZIP, PglNRAMP, PglFER</i> (gene families)	LG 7		Mahendrakar et al. (2020)
	Fe, Zn	Pgl01, Pgl02, Pgl04, Pgl05, Pgl06 (2), Pgl07		Pujar et al. (2020)
	QFe2.1, QFe2.1, QFe3.1, QFe5.1, QFe7.1, QZn2.1, QZn3.1, QZn3.2, QZn6.1,	LG 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7		Singhal et al. (2021)
Amino acids and GPC	QPro.mgb-4B, QPro.mgb-5A, QPro.mgb-6A.1, QPro.mgb.6A.2, QPro.mgb.6B, QPro.mgb-7A, QPro.mgb-7B	4B, 5A, 6A, 6B, 7A, 7B	Wheat	Blanco et al. (2002)
	GPC	2AS, 6AS and 7BL		Blanco et al. (2006)
	QGpc.sdau-3B, QGpc.sdau-5A, QGpc.sdau-6A	3B, 5A, 6A		Sun et al. (2008)
	QGpc\tgw.WL-1D, QGpc.WL-2A, QGpc\yld.WL-2B, QGpc.WL-3B, QGpc.WL-4A, QGpc\yld.WL-4A, QGpc.WL-5B, QGpc.WL-5D, QGpc.WL-6B, QGpc.WL-7A	1D, 2A, 2B, 3B, 4A, 5B, 5D, 6B, 7A		Wang et al. (2012)
	QGPC.bhu_1A	1A		Tiwari et al. (2016)
	GPC, Protein yield	1A, 1B, 2A, 2D, 3A-1, 3A-2, 3B, 3D-2, 4A, 4B, 5A, 5B, 5D, 6A, 7A-1, 7B		Mahjourimajd et al. (2016)

Table 14.1 (continued)

(continued)

Trait	Genomic region/QTLs	Chromosome	Crop	References
	QGpc.sdau-1D, QGpc.sdau-2D, QGpc.sdau-4A, QGpc.sdau-1A, QGpc.sdau-2A.2, QGpc.sdau-4B, QGpc.sdau-5D, QGpc.sdau-7A, QGpc.sdau-2A.1,	1A, 1D, 2A, 2D, 4A, 4B, 5D, 7A		Sun et al. (2016)
	QGpc.2B-yume	2B		Terasawa et al. (2016)
	QGpc.uhw-4B, QGpc.uhw-5A.1, QGpc.uhw-6B, QGpc.uhw-7B.2	4B, 5A, 6B, 7B		Fatiukha et al. (2020)
	QGpc-1B-2, QGpc-4B-1.4	1B, 4B		Guo et al. (2020)
	QGPC.cib-4A	4A		Li et al. (2020)
	PC	6, 7	Rice	Tan et al. (2001)
	prol	1		Aluko et al. (2004)
	<i>qCP-12</i>	12		Zhang et al. (2008)
	<i>qPC11.2</i>	11		Qin et al. (2009)
	<i>qPC-3, qPC-4, qPC-5, qPC-6, qPC-10</i>	3, 4, 5, 6, 10		Yu et al. (2009)
	qAa1, qAa7, qAa9	1, 7, 9		Zhong et al. (2011)
	qPro-2, qPro-10	2, 10		Yun et al. (2014)
	qPro-2	2		Lee et al. (2014)
	qPC1	1		Peng et al. (2014)
	qPC-1	1		Yang et al. (2015)
	<i>qPC6.2</i>	6		Kinoshita et al. (2017)
	qGPC1.1, qSGPC2.1, qSGPC7.1	1, 2, 7		Chattopadhyay et al. (2019)
	qPC3.1, qPC5.1, qPC9.1	3, 5, 9		Pradhan et al. (2019)
	QTL.pro.1	1		Islam et al. (2020)
	qAAC6.1, qAAC7.1, qPC1.2	1, 6, 7		Jang et al. (2020)
	qGPC1-1	1		Wu et al. (2020)
	PC	6H	Barley	See et al. (2002)
	GPC	2, 6		Mickelson et al. (2003)
	GPC	2H, 4H, 5H 7H		Emebiri et al. (2003)
	Qgpc1H, Qgpc2H, Qgpc4H, Qgpc5Ha, Qgpc5Hb, Qgpc5Hc, Qgpc7H	1H, 2H, 4H, 5H, 7H		Emebiri et al. (2005)
	Qcp2a, Qcp3a, Qcp5a, Qcp6a, Qcp7a, Qcp7b	2H, 3H, 5H, 6H, 7H		Abdel-Haleem et al. (2010)
	QGpc.ZgSc-2H.1, QGpc. ZgSc-2H.2, QGpc.ZgSc-2H.3, QGpc.ZgSc-4H.1, QGpc. ZgSc-4H.2, QGpc.ZgSc-4H.3, QGpc.ZgSc-5H.3, QGpc. ZgSc-5H.1, QGpc.ZgSc-5H.2, QGpc.ZiSc-7H.1, QGpc. ZiSc-7H.2, QGpc.ZiSc-7H.3	2H, 4H, 5H, 7H		Fan et al. (2017)

Table 14.1 (continued)

et al. 2020). Pearl millet is a nutrient-rich cereal; QTLs/ candidate genes for Fe and Zn content were identified on linkage group (LG) 3 and 5 (Kumar et al. 2016), LG 3, 5, and 7 (Anuradha et al. 2017), LG 1 and 7 (Kumar et al. 2018), LG 7 (Mahendrakar et al. 2020), Pgl01, Pgl02, Pgl04, Pgl05, Pgl06 (2), and Pgl07 (Pujar et al. 2020), and LG 2 and 3 (Singhal et al. 2021).

# 14.5 QTLs for Amino Acids and Grain Protein Content

Grain protein content (GPC) of cereals is an important component of human diet and is the determining factor of nutritional quality of plant-based diet. In the past few years, several researchers have mapped QTLs for GPC in both durum and hexaploid wheat (Table 14.1) (Blanco et al. 2002, 2006; Mahjourimajd et al. 2016; Sun et al. 2016; Fatiukha et al. 2020). In rice, QTLs for GPC have been mapped on all the chromosomes. However, most of them are located on chromosomes no 1, 2, 6, 7, 10, and 11 (Tan et al. 2001; Aluko et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2008; Qin et al. 2009; Yu et al. 2009; Zhong et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2014; Yun et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015; Chattopadhyay et al. 2019; Pradhan et al. 2019; Jang et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2020). Similarly, in the case of barley, QTLs for GPC have been reported on all seven chromosomes by several researchers. It has been found that seven consensus QTLs are present on chromosomes 2H, 4H, 5H, 6H, and 7H (See et al. 2002; Mickelson et al. 2003; Emebiri et al. 2003, 2005; Abdel-Haleem et al. 2010; Fan et al. 2017).

# 14.6 Commercial Varieties with Improved Nutritional Value

Once the OTLs get identified, marker-assisted breeding (MAB) can be employed to develop improved versions of commercial hybrids/ cultivars. This started with the development of improved version of commercial pearl millet hybrid against downy mildew (Hash et al. 2006). Thereafter, marker-assisted selection (MAS) has been widely adopted to improve cereals like rice (Improved Pusa Basmati 1, Improved Samba Mahsuri, Swarna sub1, IR64 sub1, PRR78/IRBB60, Pusa 6A, and Improved Pusa RH10), wheat, and maize. Various commercial hybrids/ cultivars of rice have been improved against bacterial blight, submergence tolerance, rice blast, drought tolerance, and several other traits (Kottapalli et al. 2010; Reddy et al. 2009; Singh et al. 2011; Das et al. 2017). Similarly, wheat varieties (Patwin, Expresso, Lassik, Farnum, Westmore, and AGS2026) have been improved against various biotic and abiotic stresses using MAS (Gupta et al. 2010). Several attempts have been made to improve the nutritional value of cereals using MAS. One of the success stories in cereals is development of quality protein maize (QPM) (Vivek et al. 2008). Marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC) was utilized to introgress the Opaque 2 allele on chromosome 2 and led to the release of 'Vivek-QPM-9' in 2008 (Gupta et al. 2013). The improved hybrid possessed 41% more tryptophan and 30% more lysine than the original hybrid (Vivek Hybrid 9). Later on in the year 2017, improved versions of three popular hybrids, viz. Pusa HM-4, Pusa HM-8, and Pusa HM-9, were released for commercial cultivation in India (Hossain et al. 2018). MABC has been utilized to develop biofortified rice with higher Zn content. With the efforts of BRRI (Bangladesh Rice Research Institute), five high Zn content varieties, viz., BRRI dhan62, BRRI dhan64, BRRI dhan72, BRRI dhan74, and BRRI dhan84, have been released for commercial cultivation. Similarly, high-Zn varieties, DRR Dhan45 and Chhattisgarh Zinc Rice-1 in India, NSIC Rc 460 in Indonesia, and Nutri Zn in Philippines, have been commercialized (Calayugan et al. 2021). In 2017, two Fe and Zn biofortified varieties, WB 02 and HPBW 01, have also been released for commercial cultivation by the Indian Institute of Wheat and Barley Research (Yadava et al. 2020). In the same year, two Fe and Zn biofortified hybrids of pearl millet, viz. AHB 1200 and HHB 299, were released with the combined efforts of CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar and ICRISAT, Hyderabad (Yadava et al. 2020).

Over the past decade, the MAB has been widely adopted to develop improved cereals. However, the global population is rising at an alarming rate and is projected to touch the mark of 9 billion by 2050 than its present level 7.53 billion (Priti et al. 2018). To keep pace with the rising population, researchers need to develop healthier and high-yielding cereals. The present, modern, and conventional agricultural practices are not capable of meeting such high demands. There is a need for newer technology that is fast with higher precision rate. GE is one such technology which can be utilized to its full potential to meet the global demands.

# 14.7 Genome Editing (GE)

The existing modern breeding technologies need to be supplemented with advanced techniques like GE to develop nutrient-rich cereals. The emergence of GE technology has revolutionized the cereal improvement program with its superior precision rate and speed (Matres et al. 2021). GE allows site-specific modification of DNA. This offers significant advantage over GM technology that mostly relied on random integration of introgressed DNA. Since the development of GE in 2010, it has been consolidated into three major platforms, viz., ZNFs, TALENs, and CRISPR-Cas. These use designed nucleases to introduce targeted DSBs. These breaks are repaired in an error-prone pathway and mutations are introduced within the target gene. These genetic changes have been utilized for crop improvement (Christou et al. 2021). The utilization of the three above-mentioned GE platforms for grain quality improvement in cereals is discussed below.

### **14.8** Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)

In recent years, new advances empowering targeted alteration of plant genomes have been made possible and new genome editing technologies have been developed including ZFNs (Bibikova et al. 2002). ZFNs are a class of designed restriction enzymes that proves to be a powerful means for GE. ZFNs are chimeric proteins that consist of an N-terminal DNA-binding domain and a nonspecific DNA cleavage domain. Each designed zinc finger (ZF) identifies a specific 3-bp DNA sequence by binding and a FokI nuclease. FokI space dimerization is profoundly a basic requirement for ZFN enzymatic action (Kim et al. 1996). FokI belongs to the type IIS class of restriction endonucleases. The capacity of these designed nucleases to make targeted double-stranded breaks at assigned locations throughout the genome has enabled the editing of genes with great precision. A couple of Zinc finger arrays (30 amino acid residues) exhibit ties to respective sequences and get aligned in contrary style with one another resulting in a particular configuration (Petolino 2015). The binding sites of two Zinc finger arrays are 18–24 bp in length separated by 5-8 bp. This space is important for creating DSB in the target sequence. The DSBs introduced by these endonucleases are followed by error-prone nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) repair results in deletions or insertions, base substitutions, or incorporation of exogenous donor sequences at the ZFN cleavage site. If this damaged repair is in the coding region of a gene, it can interrupt the reading frame resulting in an inactive gene creating new genetic variations either by addition or deletion. The mechanism of action of ZFNs is represented in Fig. 14.2. ZFNs were first reported in Arabidopsis (Wright et al. 2005; Llyod et al. 2005) and tobacco (Cai et al. 2008; Maeder et al. 2008; Townsend et al. 2009), and later on, effectively used in different plants such as soybean (Curtin et al. 2011) and rice (Cantos et al. 2014; Jung et al. 2018).

One of the most significant examples of GE for grain quality improvement by ZFNs targeted the *IPK1* gene which encodes inositol-1,3,4,5,6-pentakiphosphate 2–kinase, which is an important enzyme in phytate biosynthesis in maize seeds (Shukla et al. 2009), resulting in herbicide tolerance and altered inositol phosphate profiles in the developing seeds. Starch biosynthesis pathway was targeted in rice with engineered ZFNs which can effectively cleave and induce mutations at SSIVa locus. This modification resulted in dwarfism and reduced starch content (Jung et al. 2018).

The field of GE has been revolutionized by Zinc finger nucleases, showing the ability to utilize genomic sites of concern and opened the entryways for both essential and applied research. As for productivity, ZFNs give an advantage over different tools, extraordinary explicitness, and insignificant nontarget impacts and present challenges are focused on further improving plan and conveyance just as expanding their utilization in different crops. The advances in ZFN-based GE give huge freedom to focus on any DNA sequence in the genome. However, there are a few intrinsic detriments that have confined their wider scope of utilization, for example, costly and tedious cycles for enhanced assembly of the ZF domains and off-target effects (Eid and Mahfouz 2016; Mushtaq et al. 2019).



Fig. 14.2 An overview of nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) and homology-directed repair (HDR)-mediated genome editing

# 14.9 TALENs

Precise genetic editing or modification has remained the fundamental goal for researchers engaged in the fields of molecular breeding and agricultural biotechnology. Engineered nucleases are dynamic tools for precise in vivo genetic modifications in genomes (Bogdanove and Voytas 2011). TALENs promptly turn up as an alternative to ZFNs, by introducing targeted DSBs for GE, and provide a novel and excellent route for crop improvement. TALENs and ZFNs have similar features of containing FokI nuclease domain combined with customizable DNA-binding

domain (Fig. 14.2). This DNA-binding domain is comprised of highly conserved repeats which are derived from transcription activator-like effector proteins (TALEs), which are fused with nonspecific cleavage domain of FokI endonucleases. TALEs are Type III effector proteins that were discovered in plant pathogenic bacteria Xanthomonas spp. from rice and cotton (Boch and Bonas 2010). Similar to ZFNs, TALENs facilitate specific GE via induction of DSB in a specific target sequence of genome, followed by nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) (Moehle et al. 2007) or homology-directed repair (HDR) (Rémy et al. 2010). The emergence of engineered nucleases has revolutionized the field of genetic engineering and TALENs use these engineered nucleases to introduce specific additions and deletions in targeted genes. TALEN assembly comprises central DNA-binding domain, highly conserved acidic transcription activation domain at C terminal, secretion, and translocation at N terminal and nuclear localization signal (NLS). In central DNA-binding domain, 33-35 amino acids tandem repeats are present which recognizes one nucleotide in the target sequence (Li et al. 2011). The specificity of TALEN mainly depends on amino acids of polymorphic nature located at 12 and 13 positions, also called repeat variable di-residue (RVD). Many RVDs have been reported; some major ones are NI (Asn ile), HD (His Asp), NN (Asn Asn), and NG (Asn Gly), which recognize nucleotides adenine (A), cytosine (C), guanine (G), thymine (T), respectively. These tandem repeats are followed by a sequence of 20 amino acids, which are called half repeats.

TALENs have been used widely for crop improvement for engineering disease resistance and increasing shelf life (Haun et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014; Wendt et al. 2013; Lor et al. 2014). TALENs have also been used for grain quality improvement in cereal crops being utmost priority for sustainable agriculture (Table 14.2). In a study by Ma et al. (2015), the storage tolerance of rice was increased by knocking

Sr.						
No.	Crop	Gene	Trait	References		
ZFN	ZFNs					
1.	Maize	IPK1	Phytic acid	Shukla et al. (2009)		
2.	Rice	SSIVa locus	Starch content	Jung et al. (2018)		
TALENS						
1.	Rice	LOX3	Storage	Ma et al. (2015)		
2.	Rice	OsBADH2	Fragrance	Shan et al. (2015)		
CRISPR-Cas						
1.	Maize	ZmIPK1	Phytic acid	Sun et al. (2007)		
2.	Maize	ZmIPK1	Phytic acid	Liang et al. (2014)		
3.	Maize	ZmMADS47	Protein content	Qi et al. (2016)		
4.	Maize	Wx1	Starch content	Waltz (2016)		

Table 14.2 Overview of various crop plants improved for grain quality using GE

(continued)

Sr.				
No.	Crop	Gene	Trait	References
5.	Maize	Wx1	Starch content	Qi et al. (2020)
6.	Maize	Wx1	Starch content	Gao et al. (2020)
7.	Maize	BADH2	Fragrance	Wang et al. (2021a, b)
8.	Rice	OsFAD2–1	RBO	Abe et al. (2018)
9.	Rice	OsFAD2	RBO	Bahariah et al. (2021)
10.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Shao et al. (2017)
11.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Fuhua et al. (2018)
12.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Usman et al. (2020)
13.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Ashokkumar et al. (2020)
14.	Rice	Osor	Vitamin A	Endo et al. (2019)
15.	Rice	Osor	Vitamin A	Dong et al. (2020)
16.	Rice	Wx	Amylose content	Zhang et al. (2018a, b)
17.	Rice	Wx	Amylose content	Yunyan et al. (2019)
18.	Rice	Wx	Amylose content	Li et al. (2020a)
19.	Rice	SBEI and SBEII	Amylose content	Sun et al. (2017)
20.	Rice	SBEII	Amylose content	Baysal et al. (2020)
21.	Rice	Rc	Proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins	Zhu et al. (2019)
22.	Wheat	α-Gliadin	Gluten content	Sánchez-León et al. (2018)
23.	Wheat	α-And γ-gliadin	Gluten content	Jouanin et al. (2019)
24.	Wheat	α-Gliadin	Gluten content	Sánchez-León et al. (2018)
25.	Wheat	Pinb, waxy, and DA1	Grain hardness, starch quality, and kernel size	Zhang et al. (2018a, b)
26.	Wheat	α-Amylase/trypsin inhibitors	Protein quality	Camerlengo et al. (2020)
27.	Wheat	TaSBEIIa	Amylose content	Li et al. (2020b)
28.	Wheat	<i>Pinb, waxy, ppo</i> and <i>psy</i>	Grain hardness, starch quality, and dough color	Zhang et al. (2021)
29.	Barley	HvPAPhy_a	Phytic acid	Holme et al. (2017)
30.	Barley	HvITPK1	Phytic acid	Vlčko and Ohnoutková (2020)
31.	Barley	D-hordein	Glutenins	Yang et al. (2020)
32.	Sorghum	klC	Kafirins	Li et al. (2018)

Table 14.2 (continued)

out *LOX3* gene. Fragrant rice is favored over non-fragrant rice all over the world. In fragrant rice, more than a hundred volatile compounds are found, one of which is 2-acetyl-1-pyrroline (2AP). Its quantity is higher in fragrant rice than non-fragrant rice. Shan et al. (2015) employed TALENs to disrupt *OsBADH2* gene which inhibited the synthesis of 2AP. The study showed that the 2AP content of non-fragrant rice increased from 0 to 0.35–0.75 mg/kg, which was almost similar to the positive control variety with mutation in *BADH2* gene.

### 14.10 CRISPR/ Cas9

The combination of research and technology in developing improved genotypes of crop plants has led to the basis of modern agriculture. Though nowadays traditional breeding is much faster than 50 years back, it is not able to cope with the increasing food demand with the global climate change making the situation more challenging. As far as crop improvement is dependent on conventional breeding, i.e., exploitation of natural germplasm variation and introgressing the desired trait in target crops, time and resources will always limit the crop improvement (Jangra et al. 2017, 2019a, b). These limitations can be overcome by exploiting CRISPR technologies and crop improvement can be accelerated at a rate that was not possible earlier. CRISPR in agriculture can be considered as a novel breeding method that is much faster, predictable, and cheaper and the results are identical to conventional breeding (Gao et al. 2018). Since its first report in 2012, this technology has revolutionized research in life sciences.

Initially, CRISPR was identified as repeats (Ishino et al. 1987) and was later characterized in 1990s. The term CRISPR was coined by Jansen et al. (2002). It is a bacterial and archaeal defense mechanism that provides immunity against bacteriophages through RNA-programmed DNA cleavage. The Cas9 system is composed of a cascade of different proteins generally classified into two classes according to the structure, 6 type and 19 subtype (Shmakov et al. 2017). The composition of effector nucleases determines the level of variation among the classes. The class I effectors comprise of a complex of several proteins with different functions; however, the class II effector comprises a multi-domain single protein (Makarova et al. 2015). The most used CRISPR is type II-A CRISPR/Cas9 system, and due to its high efficiency in producing double-stranded breaks, the spCas9 is derived from Streptococcus pyogenesis. Some restrictions like proto-spacer adjacent motif (PAM) were showed by spCas9. PAM is NGG (N-Any nucleotide, G-Guanine), making its application difficult in sequences having higher AT and also prone to produce offtarget effects. These limitations have been overcome by high fidelity variants of Cas9 with mutations that prevent nonspecific interactions between DNA and nuclease domains leading to reduced off-target effects (Kleinstiver et al. 2016). Expression, interference, and adaptation are the three stages of which the CRISPR/ Cas9 system is comprised. In the expression of CRISPR array, sequences that are homologous to the target sequence (proto-spacers) get transcribed into pre-CRISPR

RNA (pre-crRNA). Homologous bonds with trans activating crRNA (tracrRNA) are formed by these pre-crRNAs. After the formation of pre-crRNA/tracrRNA complex, the Cas9 protein gets attached and RNase III cut the long pre-cdRNAs into separate crRNA/tracrRNA complexes (gRNA). Interference starts with guiding of Cas9 complex by crRNA/tracrRNA to target sequence and gRNA binds to target sequence after PAM. As the PAM sequence is not present in CRISPR array, PAM allows the discrimination between self/nonself. The target sequence, unwound as Cas9, is equipped with helicase and nuclease activity and the cuts are produced by the RuvC and HNN domain of Cas9, leading to DSB in the target sequence. NHEJ or HDR repairs the DSB and the repaired sequence is transcribed and adapted into the genome as described in Fig. 14.2 (Jackson et al. 2017). CSISPR/Cas9 offers several advantages over other GE technologies being simple and cost-effective. Also, the Cas9 system is readily available making it a highly valuable GE tool. The multi-target approach of this technique could be utilized to target multiple genes simultaneously. The off-target effects of the Cas9 could be reduced by mutating RuvC domain.

CRISPR allows researchers to perform gene knockout, DNA-free gene editing, gene insertions or knock-ins, and transient gene silencing. In the case of gene knockout/ gene silencing, CRISPR utilizes a single guide RNA (sgRNA) to initiate double-stranded breaks at the target site using Cas9 endonuclease. The repairing of these breaks through NHEJ mechanism (error-prone) results in genomic deletions or insertions, leading to permanent silencing of target gene. The DNA vector-free CRISPR-based GE requires only RNA or protein components. This DNA-free editing eliminates the possibility of unwanted genetic alterations that may be caused due to integrating plasmid DNA or random vector integration at the cut site. The double-stranded breaks induced through CRISPR can be utilized for creating gene 'knock-ins' through homology-mediated repair. The gene codon can be altered by the precise addition of donor template. In earlier studies, it has been found that precise insertions can be made by CRISPR-Cas9 system with the help of singlestranded DNA (Cong et al. 2013). Transient gene silencing or suppression of transcription can be done with modified Cas9 which is unable to cut DNA. The promoter region is targeted by the modified Cas9 and the transcriptional and gene expression activity is hampered. This can also be utilized for transient activation or upregulation of target genes (Ishino et al. 2018).

An efficient CRISPR-Cas delivery system is the only prerequisite for the application of this technology in crop improvement. The transformation of major crop plants is generally confined to a few genotypes per species, which are not probably the elite cultivars. Therefore, the development of user-friendly and robust CRISPR delivery system for commercial varieties is essential. A recent study showed that the transformation efficiency of cereals can be improved with the help of morphogenic regulators (Lowe et al. 2016). The transformation of recalcitrant elite cultivars of wheat and corn can be improved by haploid-inducer-mediated GE approach (Kelliher et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019). The time-taking process and labor-intensive process of plant regeneration through tissue culture after transformation could be avoided by

administrating the CRISPR components to shoot apical meristem, pollen, or flowering tissues (Hickey et al. 2019). This tissue culture-free technique has been recently employed to develop gene-edited plants by de novo meristem induction (Maher et al. 2020). Though in eukaryotes NHEJ is the major mechanism involved in DNA repair in crops, many desired traits can be attained by specific substitution or insertion of DNA segments. A novel method of base substitution is provided by base editing; however, it is currently restricted to A-G or C-T substitutions (Komor et al. 2016; Gaudelli et al. 2017). In a recent development, a ground-breaking genome editor called 'prime editing' has been developed that delivers genetic information directly into specific DNA sites providing a powerful tool to expand the scope and capabilities of GE (Anzalone et al. 2019). In prime editing, the Cas9 is engineered to function as nickase combined with reverse transcriptase, and the sgRNA is replaced with pegRNA (prime editing guide RNA), which comprises both a sgRNA for target site identification and RNA template for determining the DNA sequences that are to be integrated at the target site (Anzalone et al. 2019). Similar applications may follow in crop plants in the not-so-distant future.

Since the recognition of CRISPR as cutting-edge technology, it has gained the interest of researchers and industries to improve major crop plants. In a very short time since its first application in plants, it has been utilized to improve various traits like tolerance against biotic and abiotic stresses, quality, nutritional value (Table 14.2), and yield (Arora and Narula 2017; Jaganathan et al. 2018; Gao et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019; Ahmad et al. 2020; Zaidi et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2021). At present, CRISPR/Cas has become a major biotechnology tool to introgress the desired trait.

# 14.11 CRISPR/Cas for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals

CRISPR/Cas has been widely employed to edit quality-related genes in the case of cereals to enhance their nutritional value. Maize, rice, wheat, barley, oats, rye, and sorghum are the principal cereal crops across the globe. In the following section, an overview of CRISPR-Cas9-based improvement of grain nutrient quality in cereals is summarized in Table 14.2.

# 14.12 Maize (Zea Mays)

Maize is the most cultivated cereal all across the globe. It is widely used for human consumption, animal feed, and biofuel production. Phytic acid (inositol 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6-hexakisphosphate) is an anti-nutritional compound present in maize and reduces

the assimilation of minerals after human and animal consumption (Feil 2001). To overcome this problem, the gene (Inositol phosphatase kinase 1, *ZmIPK1*) encoding for phytic acid production was knocked out using CRISPR-Cas9. The study showed that over 50% of the IPK1 open reading frames were interrupted in leaves and seeds (Sun et al. 2007). Similarly, ZmIPK1 was targeted, knocked out by mutagenesis induced by specifically designed gsRNA (Liang et al. 2014).

Zeins are the most abundant storage protein in maize and are deficient in two essential amino acids (lysine and tryptophan), contributing to poor nutrient quality. Opaque 2 (O2), a basic leucine zipper protein-based transcription factor, regulates the synthesis of zeins in maize (Schmidt et al. 1990). It has been reported that this problem can be overcome by altering the zeins production, which allows production of other proteins with higher lysine and tryptophan content. CRISPR technology has been employed to target *ZmMADS47* gene encoding a MADS-box protein, an interacting partner of O2. A reduction of 12.5% in zeins content was recorded in MADS/CAS9–21 lines (Qi et al. 2016).

Starch (amylose and amylopectin) content is another important target trait. Generally, the starch content in normal maize is around 70%, of which 75% is amylopectin and 25% is amylose. Waxy maize that has high amylopectin content was first discovered over 100 years ago in China. The high starch content makes waxy corn an ideal product for implementing CRISPR-Cas to overcome the challenges associated with conventional breeding. CRISPR-Cas technology has been utilized to alter the waxy gene (Wx1), which encodes granule-bound starch synthase responsible for amylose production in endosperm. The alteration can lead to accumulation of high amylopectin content in endosperm, making it suitable for various industries like processed foods, adhesives, and high-gloss paper. For commercialization, CRISPR-Cas-based editing of WX1 has been applied to elite commercial cultivars and crossbreed as CRISPR-waxy hybrids (Waltz 2016). Waxy maize was presented among first CRISPR-edited crops that can be cultivated and sold free from USDA regulations and will be available in the market by DuPont Pioneer in the coming years after field trials (Waltz 2018). In another study, the Wx1 gene has been targeted to develop waxy maize employing CRISPR-Cas9 (Qi et al. 2020). Field trials of CRISPR-edited waxy corn hybrids of 12 elite inbred lines indicated that these were agronomically superior to the introgressed line and produced on an average 5.5 bushels per acre higher yield (Gao et al. 2020).

Recently, aromatic maize has been developed using CRISPR-Cas9. Two maize betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (BADH2) homologs, ZmBADH2a and ZmBADH2b, were identified in maize. Zmbadh2a and zmbadh2b single mutants and the zmbadh2a-zmbadh2b double mutant were developed by CRISPR/Cas in four inbred lines. The double mutants accumulated 0.028 and 0.723 mg/kg 2-acetyl-1-pyrroline (2AP) in fresh and dried kernels, respectively (Wang et al. 2021a, b).

### 14.13 Rice (Oryza Sativa)

Rice is consumed by more than 3.5 billion people across the globe and accounts for around 20% of the global dietary supply (Fiaz et al. 2019; Ku and Ha 2020). It has been estimated that there should be a 40% increase in production by 2030 to meet the global rice demand (Khush 2005). In addition, with the improvement in people's living standards, the demand for rice with higher nutritional quality is expected to increase. Therefore, newer technologies like CRISPR can be utilized to improve the nutritional value of rice at a much faster rate than conventional breeding. Rice bran oil (RBO) is widely used in Asian countries and the major components of RBO are monounsaturated oleic acid (37-52%) followed by 13-22% of linoleic acid (polyunsaturated) and 27-40% palmitic acid (saturated) (Taira et al. 1988). The presence of oleic acid in RBO makes it good for health which has increased the demands of rice bran oil. Further, increasing the oleic acid in rice can add to the health benefits. In plants, the conversion of oleic acid to linoleic acid is catalyzed by an enzyme fatty acid desaturase 2 (FAD2). In rice, three functional FAD2 genes are present, of which OsFAD2-1 is highly expressed in seeds. Thus, by altering this gene, the oleic acid content in RBO can be elevated. The disruption of OsFAD2-1 gene by targeted mutagenesis utilizing CRISPR led to two-fold increase in oleic acid content, thereby increasing the quality of RBO (Abe et al. 2018). In another study, CRISPR-Cas9 was utilized to knock out FAD2 gene using two sgRNA. The knocked-out plants showed higher oleic acid content as compared to wild-type plants (Bahariah et al. 2021).

The demand for fragrant rice, particularly Indian Basmati, is gaining worldwide due to the presence of a characteristic fragrance in its grains. This fragrance is due to the presence of defective OsBAD2 which favors the production of 2AP, one of the most abundant components of various volatile compounds responsible for fragrance (Zafar et al. 2020). Fragrance gene BADH2 of Zhonghua 11 rice was edited using CRISPR/Cas9. An additional base (T) was introduced in the first exon of BADH2, leading to higher 2AP content in edited rice (Shao et al. 2017). CRISPR-Cas9 was applied to alter the BADH2 gene in Zhengdao 19, a rice variety suited for direct sowing. The 2AP content in field planted T<sub>0</sub> was found to be increased from 0.003  $\mu$ g/g (in the wild type) to 1.259 ± 0.072  $\mu$ g/g for T<sub>0</sub> mutants. In greenhouseplanted T<sub>1</sub>, it increased from 0.002  $\mu$ g/g (in the wild type) to 0.537  $\pm$  0.111  $\mu$ g/g for  $T_1$  mutants (Fuhua et al. 2018). A significant increase in grain yield and fragrance (2AP) was observed in CRISPR-edited rice. The mutants exhibited 2AP levels ranging from 0.72–0.78 mg/kg while 2AP was absent in wild type (Usman et al. 2020). CRISPR was used to introduce aroma in elite rice variety ASD16 by creating novel alleles of OsBADH2 gene. SgRNA-mediated mutations were introduced in the seventh exon of OsBADH2 gene. Novel aromatic comparatives, viz. pyrrolidine, pyridine, pyrazine, pyridazine, and pyrozole, were detected in the comparative volatile profiling of  $T_1$  progenies grains (Ashokkumar et al. 2020).

Rice, one of the staple crops worldwide, is known to be deficient in vitamin A. Golden rice was developed to overcome this deficiency by enhancing the  $\beta$ -Carotene content in the endosperm (Paine et al. 2005). CRISPR-Cas has also been

utilized to improve the vitamin A content in rice. An ortholog of *Orange (Or)* gene in cauliflower, the *Osor* gene in rice was targeted using CRISPR-Cas9. Accumulation of orange color in the callus showed the enhanced  $\beta$ -carotene level in edited rice (Endo et al. 2019). A 5.2 kb carotenoid biosynthesis cassette at two genomic safe harbors was introduced in rice. An enhanced $\beta$ -carotene level was detected in seeds with no change in yield. Whole-genome sequencing revealed that no off-target mutations were created in Cas9 engineered plants (Dong et al. 2020).

Soft rice with 7–10% amylose content is guite popular in south China. The amylose content is determined by Waxy (Wx) gene. CRISPR-Cas9 has been recently applied to alter this gene to produce softer versions of elite cultivars. A loss of function in Wx gene of two widely cultivated elite japonica varieties, Xiushui134 (XS134) and Wuyunjing 7 (9522), was introduced by CRISPR-Cas9. A two-fold increase in gel consistency (GC) and a marked reduction in gelatinization temperature (GT) for CRISPR-waxy seeds were observed as compared to wild (Zhang et al. 2018a, b). The Wx gene of two elite rice cultivars, Huaidao 5 (HD5) and Suken 118 (SK118), was targeted to develop soft rice. The amylose content in the edited lines was around 2.6%-3.2% (Yunyan et al. 2019). Three elite rice cultivars, viz. Suijing 18 (SJ18), Songjing 2 (SJ2), and Longqingdao 3 (LQD3), were targeted for CRISPR-based editing of Waxy gene. The edited lines showed a significant reduction in the amylose content (Li et al. 2020a). An elite indica variety TianFengB was targeted to improve the cooking quality by reducing the amylose content using CRISPR-Cas9. The edited lines showed a significant reduction in amylose content. The study showed that in some of the edited lines the amylose content was similar to glutinous rice (Zeng et al. 2020). Cereal grains with higher starch content are known to be a good source of resistant starch (Jiang et al. 2010). Resistant starch is a form of nondigestible starch and is not absorbed in the body and protects from various noninfectious diseases (Regina et al. 2006). Keeping in mind the health benefits of resistant starch, CRISPR has been utilized to increase the starch content in rice. The calli derived from japonica cv. Kitaake was targeted for introduction of CRISPR-mediated mutagenesis in starch branching enzymes (SBE, SBEI, and SBEIIb). The SBEI and SBEII mutants showed a significant increase in amylose content and resistant starch by 25.0 and 9.8%, respectively (Sun et al. 2017). In another study, CRISPR-Cas9-mediated mutagenesis in SBEII resulted in increased amylose and resistant starch content from 19.6 to 27.4% and from 0.2 to 17.2%, respectively (Baysal et al. 2020).

Proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins are the major health-promoting nutrients present in rice. The red color in rice is governed by two recessive complementary genes, *Rc* and *Rd*. The wild species *Oryza rufipogon* has RcRd genotype which is responsible for red pericarp. However, a 14-bp frame-shift deletion in the seventh exon of *Rc* gene results in white phenotype in most of the cultivated rice varieties. Recently, this frame-shift mutation in recessive Rc was revered with the help of CRISPR-mediated editing, resulting in the conversion of white cultivar to red cultivar. The mutants showed high accumulation of proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins than the wild type. No significant difference in other agronomic traits was observed in the mutants as compared to wild type (Zhu et al. 2019).

### 14.14 Wheat

Wheat is an economically important cereal that supplies 20% of the calorie intake to over 60% of the global population. Presently, it is cultivated on around 220 million hectares with an annual production of 700–750 million tons and used in a wide range of products. The continued economic development has led to increased demand for premium quality wheat with improved grain quality. Grain quality is a mutagenic trait and the hexaploid genome of around 16 Gb with around 85% repetitive elements makes it more complex (Zhang et al. 2021). The advent of CRISPR-Cas9 has allowed researchers to create novel allelic variations to improve wheat grain quality. Recently, a web-based tool has been developed to design sgRNA for GE in wheat (Cram et al. 2019).

Celiac disease (CD) is the most common disease associated with wheat. It is an autoimmune disease prevalent in around 1-2% of the global population (Jouanin et al. 2020). Among food intolerances, CD is relatively well-understood from the standpoint of human immunity (Tye-Din et al. 2010). Gluten-free diets (GF), which exclude all wheat products, are the only way to prevent CD and this is very difficult as wheat gluten is present in almost every product. In the case of wheat, the gene family responsible for this autoimmune disease is  $\alpha$ -gliadin, of which 33-mer is most immunogenic. The coding region of 33-mer was targeted using CRISPR and 21 mutant lines were developed. A total of 35 different genes were mutated and the immunoreactivity was reduced by 85%. These GE lines could be utilized in making low-gluten foodstuffs (Sánchez-León et al. 2018). In another study, both  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ -gliadins were targeted using CRISPR-Cas9. The T<sub>1</sub> generation showed altered gliadins production (Jouanin et al. 2019). Two genes related to grain quality, *pinb* (grain hardness) and waxy (starch quality), and one for kernel size DA1 were mutated using CRISPR. Three mutant lines were generated and a mutation efficiency of 54.17% was recorded (Zhang et al. 2018a, b). Two subunits of α-amylase/trypsin inhibitors (ATI), viz. WTAI-CM3 and WTAI-CM16, were targeted to reduce allergen proteins in durum wheat using CRISPR (Camerlengo et al. 2020). The resistant starch content of modern wheat varieties is quite low. Targeted mutagenesis of TaSBEIIa using CRISPR was employed to increase amylose content in winter wheat cv. Zhegmai 7698 (ZM) and spring wheat cv. Bobwhite. Flour quality analysis showed that the triple-null lines possessed significantly increased amylose content (Li et al. 2020b). Four-grain quality genes, viz. pinb (grain hardness), waxy (starch quality), ppo, and psy (dough color), were targeted using CRISPR-Cas9. The mutants showed a significant reduction in expression of all four genes (Zhang et al. 2021).

# 14.15 Barley (Hordeum Vulgare)

Barley is one of the first crops to be domesticated, a major constituent of the brewing industry and primarily used as feed and food. Like other cereals, the presence of phytic acid is a major drawback associated with barley (Cosgrove 1980). CRISPR-Cas9-mediated mutations in the promoter of the barley phytase gene  $HvPAPhy_a$  showed reduced mature grain phytase activity (Holme et al. 2017). In another study, HvITPK1 gene responsible for phytic acid production in barley was mutated. The mutants contained altered levels of phosphate in the mature grains, ranging from 65% to 174% of the wild-type content (Vlčko and Ohnoutková 2020). D-hordein component of barley storage protein was mutated using CRISPR. Barley grains without D-hordein protein in T<sub>2</sub> seeds showed a decrease in the prolamines and an increase in the glutenins. Further, there was increase in starch, amylose, and  $\beta$ -glucan content (Yang et al. 2020).

### 14.16 Sorghum (Sorghum Bicolor)

Sorghum, a drought-tolerant crop, is a major staple food and feed crop in semiarid regions where cultivation of other cereals is not possible. Sorghum is deficient in essential amino acids like lysine and its protein is difficult to digest (Aboubacar et al. 2001). The reason behind the nondigestibility is the presence of prolamins, known as kafirins, which account for 70% of the total seed protein (Hamaker et al. 1995). Kafirins mainly comprise  $\alpha$ -kafirins encoded by gene family k1C. The gene family k1C was targeted using CRISPR. A reduced T1 and T2  $\alpha$ -kafirin and increased grain protein digestibility and lysine content were observed in T<sub>2</sub> generation seeds (Li et al. 2018).

#### 14.17 Conclusion and Future Prospects

Over the past several decades, conventional and molecular breeding has made significant contributions to agriculture. They utilize the variations in the available germplasm to develop improved versions. However, the improvement through these technologies is limited due to nonavailability of diverse germplasm. Moreover, these methods are time- and labor-intensive. GE, an advanced biotechnological tool, can be utilized to overcome the limitations. GE opens new avenues for researchers in the field of plant sciences to modify the target trait to interest, leading to a prodigious success in plant biotechnology. The use of genome editing has allowed efficient, rapid, specific, and targeted editing for increasing yield and nutritional value in cereals and other horticultural and fruit crops. These technologies add an edge to the existing genetic engineering struggles in attaining food security and combating malnutrition with the increasing global population. As GE crops are not likely to undergo strict regulations as in the case of GM crops (Yadav et al. 2018), they have come up as the first choice of researchers to develop improved crop plants. Despite several advancements in the field of GE, several challenges are associated with GE in cereals. Some of the major challenges are development of efficient transformation protocol, off-target effects, multiplexing, requirement of specific promoters, and complex design (Ansari et al. 2020). There are also certain restrictions and regulations for application of GE to crops (Zhang et al. 2020). All these challenges must be resolved to utilize GE to its full potential. The development of crop plants with enhanced nutritional value using GE promises that everyone gets a health-ier diet.

# References

- Abdel-Haleem H, Bowman J, Giroux M, Kanazin V, Talbert H, Surber L, Blake T (2010) Quantitative trait loci of acid detergent fiber and grain chemical composition in hulled × hullless barley population. Euphytica 172(3):405–418
- Abe K, Araki E, Suzuki Y, Toki S, Saika H (2018) Production of high oleic/low linoleic rice by genome editing. Plant Physiol Biochem 131:58–62
- Aboubacar A, Axtell JD, Huang CP, Hamaker BR (2001) A rapid protein digestibility assay for identifying highly digestible sorghum lines. Cereal Chem 78:160–165
- Agarwal S, VGN TV, Kotla A, Mangrauthia SK, Neelamraju S (2014) Expression patterns of QTL based and other candidate genes in Madhukar× Swarna RILs with contrasting levels of iron and zinc in unpolished rice grains. Gene 546:430–436
- Ahmad N, Rahman M, Mukhtar Z, Zafar Y, Zhang B (2020) A critical look on CRISPR-based genome editing in plants. J Cell Physiol 235:666–682
- Aluko G, Martinez C, Tohme J, Castano C, Bergman C, Oard JH (2004) QTL mapping of grain quality traits from the interspecific cross *Oryza sativa* × *O. glaberrima*. Theor Appl Genet 109:630–639
- Ansari WA, Chandanshive SU, Bhatt V et al (2020) Genome editing in cereals: approaches, applications and challenges. Int J Mol Sci 21(11):4040. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21114040
- Anuradha N, Satyavathi CT, Bharadwaj C et al (2017) Deciphering genomic regions for high grain iron and zinc content using association mapping in pearl millet. Front Plant Sci 8:412. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00412
- Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR et al (2019) Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature 576:149–157
- Arora L, Narula A (2017) Gene editing and crop improvement using CRISPR-cas9 system. Front Plant Sci 8:1932. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01932
- Ashokkumar S, Jaganathan D, Ramanathan V, Rahman H, Palaniswamy R, Kambale R, Muthurajan R (2020) Creation of novel alleles of fragrance gene *OsBADH2* in rice through CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing. PLoS One 15(8):e0237018. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237018
- Azmach G, Gedil M, Menkir A et al (2013) Marker-trait association analysis of functional gene markers for provitamin a levels across diverse tropical yellow maize inbred lines. BMC Plant Biol 13:227. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-13-227
- Babu R, Rojas NP, Gao S, Yan J, Pixley K (2013) Validation of the effects of molecular marker polymorphisms in LcyE and CrtRB1 on provitamin a concentrations for 26 tropical maize populations. Theor Appl Genet 126(2):389–399
- Bahariah B, Masani MYA, Rasid OA, Parveez GKA (2021) Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing of the FAD2 gene in rice: a model genome editing system for oil palm. J Genet Eng Biotechnol 19:86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43141-021-00185-4
- Baysal C, He W, Drapal M et al (2020) Inactivation of rice starch branching enzyme IIb triggers broad and unexpected changes in metabolism by transcriptional reprogramming. Proc Natl Acad Sci 42:26503–26512
- Bibikova M, Golic M, Golic KG, Carroll D (2002) Targeted chromosomal cleavage and mutagenesis in drosophila using zinc-finger nucleases. Genetics 161(3):1169–1175

- Blanco A, Pasqualone A, Troccoli A et al (2002) Detection of grain protein content QTLs across environments in tetraploid wheats. Plant Mol Biol 48:615–623
- Blanco A, Simeone R, Gadaleta A (2006) Detection of QTLs for grain protein content in durum wheat. Theor Appl Genet 112(7):1195–1204
- Boch J, Bonas U (2010) Xanthomonas AvrBs3 family-type III effectors: discovery and function. Annu Rev Phytopathol 48:419–436
- Bogdanove AJ, Voytas DF (2011) TAL effectors: customizable proteins for DNA targeting. Science 333:1843–1846
- Bonawitz ND, Ainley WM, Itaya A et al (2019) Zinc finger nuclease-mediated targeting of multiple transgenes to an endogenous soybean genomic locus via non-homologous end joining. Plant Biotechnol J 17(4):750–761
- Bouis HE, Saltzman A (2017) Improving nutrition through biofortification: a review of evidence from HarvestPlus, 2003 through 2016. Glob Food Sec 12:49–58
- Cai CQ, Doyon Y, Ainley WM et al (2008) Targeted transgene integration in plant cells using designed zinc finger nucleases. Plant Mol Biol 69:699–709
- Calayugan MIC, Formantes AK, Amparado A et al (2020) Genetic analysis of agronomic traits and grain iron and zinc concentrations in a doubled haploid population of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Sci Rep 10:2283. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59184-z
- Calayugan MIC, Swamy MBP, Nha CT et al (2021) Zinc-biofortified rice: a sustainable food-based product for fighting zinc malnutrition. In: Ali J, Wani SH (eds) Rice Improvement. Springer, Cham, pp 449–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-66530-2\_13
- Camerlengo F, Sparks C, Doherty A, Martignago D, Larré C, Lupi R, Sestili F, Masci S (2020) CRISPR-Cas9 multiplex editing of the α-amylase/trypsin inhibitor genes to reduce allergen proteins in durum wheat. Front Sustain Food Syst 4:104. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.00104
- Cantos C, Francisco P, Trijatmiko KR, Slamet-Loedin I, Chadha-Mohanty PK (2014) Identification of "safe harbor" loci in indica rice genome by harnessing the property of zinc-finger nucleases to induce DNA damage and repair. Front Plant Sci 5:302. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2014.00302
- Chattopadhyay K, Behera L, Bagchi TB et al (2019) Detection of stable QTLs for grain protein content in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) employing high throughput phenotyping and genotyping platforms. Sci Rep 9:3196. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39863-2
- Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C (2019) CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol 70:667–697
- Christian M, Cermak T, Doyle EL et al (2010) Targeting DNA double-strand breaks with TAL effector nucleases. Genetics 186:757–761
- Christou P, Dhingra A, Slamet-Loedin IH et al (2021) Preface: genome editing in plants. Transgenic Res 30:317–320
- Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D et al (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339(6121):819–823
- Cosgrove D (1980) Inositol hexakisphosphates. In: Cosgrove D (ed) Inositol phosphates: their chemistry, biochemistry and physiology. Elsevier, New York, pp 26–43
- Cram D, Kulkarni M, Buchwaldt M et al (2019) Wheat CRISPR: a web-based guide RNA design tool for CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing in wheat. BMC Plant Biol 19:474. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-019-2097-z
- Crespo-Herrera L, Velu G, Singh R (2016) Quantitative trait loci mapping reveals pleiotropic effect for grain iron and zinc concentrations in wheat. Ann Appl Biol 169:27–35
- Curtin SJ, Zhang F, Sander JD et al (2011) Targeted mutagenesis of duplicated genes in soybean with zinc-finger nucleases. Plant Physiol 156:466–473
- Das G, Patra JK, Baek KH (2017) Insight into MAS: a molecular tool for development of stress resistant and quality of rice through gene stacking. Front Plant Sci 8:985. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00985

- Descalsota GIL, Swamy B, Zaw H et al (2018) Genome-wide association mapping in a rice MAGIC plus population detects QTLs and genes useful for biofortification. Front Plant Sci 9:1347. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01347
- Dixit S, Singh UM, Abbai R et al (2019) Identification of genomic region (s) responsible for high iron and zinc content in rice. Sci Rep 9:8136. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-43888-y
- Dong OX, Yu S, Jain R et al (2020) Marker-free carotenoid-enriched rice generated through targeted gene insertion using CRISPR-Cas9. Nat Commun 11:1178. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-020-14981-y
- Duo H, Hossain F, Muthusamy V et al (2021) Development of sub-tropically adapted diverse provitamin-a rich maize inbreds through marker assisted pedigree selection, their characterization and utilization in hybrid breeding. PLoS One 16(2):e0245497. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0245497
- Eid A, Mahfouz M (2016) Genome editing: the road of CRISPR/Cas9 from bench to clinic. Exp Mol Med 48(10):e265 doi: 10.1038/emm.2016.111
- Emebiri LC, Moody DB, Panozzo JF, Chalmers KJ, Kretschmer JM, Ablett GA (2003) Identification of QTLs associated with variations in grain protein concentration in two-row barley. Crop Pasture Sci 54:1211–1221
- Emebiri LC, Moody DB, Horsley R, Panozzo J, Read BJ (2005) The genetic control of grain protein content variation in a doubled haploid population derived from a cross between Australian and north American two-rowed barley lines. J Cereal Sci 41(1):107–114
- Endo A, Saika H, Takemura M, Misawa N, Toki S (2019) A novel approach to carotenoid accumulation in rice callus by mimicking the cauliflower Orange mutation via genome editing. Rice 12:1–5
- Fan C, Zhai H, Wang H et al (2017) Identification of QTLs controlling grain protein concentration using a high-density SNP and SSR linkage map in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). BMC Plant Biol 17:122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-017-1067-6
- Fatiukha A, Filler N, Lupo I et al (2020) Grain protein content and thousand kernel weight QTLs identified in a durum × wild emmer wheat mapping population tested in five environments. Theor Appl Genet 133:119–131
- Feil B (2001) Phytic acid. J New Seeds 3:1-35
- Fiaz S, Ahmad S, Noor MA, Wang X, Younas A, Riaz A, Riaz A, Ali F (2019) Applications of the CRISPR/Cas9 system for rice grain quality improvement: perspectives and opportunities. Int J Mol Sci 20(4):888. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20040888
- Fuhua W, Huazheng X, Ya W et al (2018) Breeding fragrant rice Zhengdao19 using CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing technology. Crops 34(6):36–42
- Gaikwad KB, Rani S, Kumar M, Gupta V, Babu PH, Bainsla NK, Yadav R (2020) Enhancing the nutritional quality of major food crops through conventional and genomics-assisted breeding. Front Nutr 7:533453. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2020.533453
- Gao R, Feyissa BA, Croft M, Hannoufa A (2018) Gene editing by CRISPR/Cas9 in the obligatory outcrossing *Medicago sativa*. Planta 247:1043–1050
- Gao H, Gadlage MJ, Lafitte HR et al (2020) Superior field performance of waxy corn engineered using CRISPR–Cas9. Nat Biotechnol 38:579–581
- Gaudelli NM, Komor A, Rees H et al (2017) Programmable base editing of A•T to G•C in genomic DNA without DNA cleavage. Nature 551:464–471
- Gorafi YS, Ishii T, Kim J-S, Elbashir AAE, Tsujimoto H (2018) Genetic variation and association mapping of grain iron and zinc contents in synthetic hexaploid wheat germplasm. Plant Genet Resour 16:9–17
- Govindaraj M, Rai KN, Cherian B, Pfeiffer WH, Kanatti A, Shivade H (2019) Breeding biofortified pearl millet varieties and hybrids to enhance millet markets for human nutrition. Agriculture 9:106. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture9050106
- Guo Y, Zhang G, Guo B et al (2020) QTL mapping for quality traits using a high-density genetic map of wheat. PLoS One 15:e0230601. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230601

- Gupta PK, Langridge P, Mir RR (2010) Marker-assisted wheat breeding: present status and future possibilities. Mol Breeding 26:145–161
- Gupta HS, Raman B, Agrawal PK, Mahajan V, Hossain F, Nepolean T (2013) Accelerated development of quality protein maize hybrid through marker-assisted introgression of opaque-2 allele. Plant Breed 132:77–82
- Gyawali S, Otte M, Chao S et al (2017) Genome wide association studies (GWAS) of element contents in grain with a special focus on zinc and iron in a world collection of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). J Cereal Sci 77:266–227
- Hamaker BR, Mohamed AA, Habben JE, Huang CP, Larkins BA (1995) Efficient procedure for extracting maize and sorghum kernel proteins reveals higher prolamin contents than the conventional method. Cereal Chem 72:583–588
- Hao Y, Velu G, Peña RJ, Singh S, Singh RP (2014) Genetic loci associated with high grain zinc concentration and pleiotropic effect on kernel weight in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Mol Breed 34:1893–1902
- Hash CT, Sharma A, Kolesnikova-Allen MA et al (2006) Teamwork delivers biotechnology products to Indian small-holder crop-livestock producers: pearl millet hybrid "HHB 67 improved" enters seed delivery pipeline. J SAT Agr Res 2(1):1–3
- Haun W, Coffman A, Clasen BM et al (2014) Improved soybean oil quality by targeted mutagenesis of the fatty acid desaturase 2 gene family. Plant Biotechnol J 12(7):934–940
- Hickey LT, Hafeez N, Robinson H et al (2019) Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. Nat Biotechnol 37:744–754
- Hk K, Ha S (2020) Improving nutritional and functional quality by genome editing of crops: status and perspectives. Front Plant Sci 11:577313. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.577313
- Holme IB, Wendt T, Gil-Humanes J et al (2017) Evaluation of the mature grain phytase candidate *HvPAPhy\_a* gene in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) using CRISPR/Cas9 and TALENS. Plant Mol Biol 95(1–2):111–121
- Hossain F, Muthusamy V, Pandey N et al (2018) Marker-assisted introgression of opaque2 allele for rapid conversion of elite hybrids into quality protein maize. J Genet 97:287–298
- Ishino Y, Shinagawa H, Makino K, Amemura M, Nakata A (1987) Nucleotide sequence of the *iap* gene, responsible for alkaline phosphatase isozyme conversion in *Escherichia coli*, and identification of the gene product. J Bacteriol 169:5429–5433
- Ishino Y, Krupovic M, Forterre P (2018) History of CRISPR-Cas from encounter with a mysterious repeated sequence to genome editing technology. J Bacteriol 200(7):e00580–e00517. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00580-17
- Islam M, Arifuzzaman M, Banik S et al (2020) Mapping QTLs underpin nutrition components in aromatic rice germplasm. PLoS One 15:e0234395. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0234395
- Jackson SA, McKenzie RE, Fagerlund RD, Kieper SN, Fineran PC, Brouns SJ (2017) CRISPR-Cas: adapting to change. Science 356:eaal5056. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal5056
- Jaganathan D, Ramasamy K, Sellamuthu G, Jayabalan S, Venkataraman G (2018) CRISPR for crop improvement: an update review. Front Plant Sci 9:985. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00985
- Jang S, Han JH, Lee YK, Shin NH, Kang YJ, Kim CK, Chin JH (2020) Mapping and validation of QTLs for the amino acid and total protein content in brown rice. Front Genet 11:240. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2020.00240
- Jangra S, Mishra A, Kamboj D, Yadav NR, Yadav RC (2017) Engineering abiotic stress tolerance traits for mitigating climate change. In: Gahlawat S, Salar R, Siwach P, Duhan J, Kumar S, Kaur P (eds) Plant biotechnology: recent advancements and developments. Springer, Singapore, pp 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-4732-9\_3
- Jangra S, Chaudhary V, Yadav NR (2018) Transcription factors and microRNA interplay: a new strategy for crop improvement. In: Ghedria K (ed) Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.75942

- Jangra S, Rani A, Yadav RC, Yadav NR, Yadav D (2019a) Introgression of terminal drought stress tolerance in advance lines of popular pearl millet hybrid through molecular breeding. Plant Physiol Rep 24:359–369
- Jangra S, Mishra A, Priti, Kamboj D, Yadav NR, Yadav RC (2019b) Plant responses and tolerance to drought. In: Mirza H, Kamrun N, Masayuki F, Hirosuke O, Islam TM (eds) Approaches for enhancing abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Taylor & Francis, CRC Press, pp 79–98. https:// doi.org/10.1201/9781351104722
- Jangra S, Chaudhary V, Yadav RC, Yadav NR (2021a) High-throughput phenotyping: a platform to accelerate crop improvement. Phenomics 1:31–53
- Jangra S, Rani A, Yadav D, Yadav RC, Yadav NR (2021b) Promising versions of commercial pearl millet hybrid for terminal drought tolerance identified through MAS. J Genet. 100:88. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12041-021-01337-8
- Jansen R, Embden JDV, Gaastra W, Schouls LM (2002) Identification of genes that are associated with DNA repeats in prokaryotes. Mol Microboiol 43:1565–1575
- Jeong OY, Lee JH, Jeong EG et al (2020) Analysis of QTL responsible for grain iron and zinc content in doubled haploid lines of rice (*Oryza sativa*) derived from an intra-japonica cross. Plant Breed 139:344–355
- Jiang H, Lio J, Blanco M, Campbell M, Jane JL (2010) Resistant-starch formation in high-amylose maize starch during kernel development. J Agric Food Chem 58:8043–8047
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337:816–821
- Jouanin A, Schaart JG, Boyd LA et al (2019) Outlook for coeliac disease patients: towards bread wheat with hypoimmunogenic gluten by gene editing of α- and γ-gliadin gene families. BMC Plant Biol 19(1):333. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-019-1889-5
- Jouanin A, Gilissen LJWJ, Schaart JG et al (2020) CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing of gluten in wheat to reduce gluten content and exposure-reviewing methods to screen for coeliac safety. Front Nutr 7:51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2020.00051
- Jung YJ, Nogoy FM, Lee SK, Cho YG, Kang KK (2018) Application of ZFN for site directed mutagenesis of rice SSIVa gene. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 23:108–115
- Kelliher T, Starr D, Su X et al (2019) One-step genome editing of elite crop germplasm during haploid induction. Nat Biotechnol 37:287–292
- Khush GS (2005) What it will take to feed 5.0 billion rice consumers in 2030. Plant Mol Biol 59(1):1–6
- Kim YG, Cha J, Chandrasegaran S (1996) Hybrid restriction enzymes: zinc finger fusions to Fok I cleavage domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:1156–1160
- Kinoshita N, Kato M, Koyasaki K et al (2017) Identification of quantitative trait loci for rice grain quality and yield-related traits in two closely related *Oryza sativa* L. subsp. *japonica* cultivars grown near the northernmost limit for rice paddy cultivation. Breed Sci 67:191–206
- Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, Joung JK (2016) Highfidelity CRISPR–Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature 529(7587):490–495
- Komor AC, Kim YB, Packer MS, Zuris JA, Liu DR (2016) Programmable editing of a target base in genomic DNA without double-stranded DNA cleavage. Nature 533:420–424
- Kottapalli K, Lakshmi NM, Jena K (2010) Effective strategy for pyramiding three bacterial blight resistance genes into fine grain rice cultivar, samba mahsuri, using sequence tagged site markers. Biotechnol Lett 32:989–996
- Krishnappa G, Singh AM, Chaudhary S, Ahlawat et al (2017) Molecular mapping of the grain iron and zinc concentration, protein content and thousand kernel weight in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). PLoS One 12(4): e0174972 doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174972
- Kumar S, Hash CT, Thirunavukkarasu N et al (2016) Mapping quantitative trait loci controlling high iron and zinc content in self and open pollinated grains of pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.]. Front Plant Sci 7:1636. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01636

- Kumar S, Hash CT, Nepolean T et al (2018) Mapping grain iron and zinc content quantitative trait loci in an Iniadi-derived immortal population of pearl millet. Genes (Basel) 9(5):248. https:// doi.org/10.3390/genes9050248
- Lee GH, Yun BW, Kim KM (2014) Analysis of QTLs associated with the rice quality related gene by double haploid populations. Int. J Genomics 2014:781832. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/781832
- Li T, Huang S, Zhao X et al (2011) Modularly assembled designer TAL effector nucleases for targeted gene knockout and gene replacement in eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Res 39:6315–6325
- Li A, Jia S, Yobi A, Ge Z, Sato SJ, Zhang C, Angelovici R, Clemente TE, Holding DR (2018) Editing of an alpha-kafirin gene family increases, digestibility and protein quality in sorghum. Plant Phy 177(4):1425–1438
- Li Q, Pan Z, Gao Y, Li T, Liang J, Zhang Z, Zhang H, Deng G, Long H, Yu M (2020) Quantitative trait locus (QTLs) mapping for quality traits of wheat based on high density genetic map combined with bulked segregant analysis RNA-seq (BSR-Seq) indicates that the *basic 7S* globulin gene is related to falling number. Front Plant Sci 11:600788. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2020.600788
- Li H, Li X, Xu Y et al (2020a) High-efficiency reduction of rice amylose content via CRISPR/ Cas9-mediated base editing. Rice Sci 27(6):445–448
- Li J, Jiao G, Sun Y, Chen J, Zhong Y, Yan L, Jiang D, Ma Y, Xia L (2020b) Modification of starch composition, structure and properties through editing of *TaSBEIIa* in both winter and spring wheat varieties by CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J 19(5):937–951
- Liang Z, Zhang K, Chen K, Gao C (2014) Targeted mutagenesis in *Zea mays* using TALENs and the CRISPR/Cas system. J Genet Genomic 41:63–68
- Liu J, Wu B, Singh RP, Velu G (2019) QTL mapping for micronutrients concentration and yield component traits in a hexaploid wheat mapping population. J Cereal Sci 88:57–64
- Lloyd A, Plaisier CL, Carroll D, Drews GN (2005) Targeted mutagenesis using zinc-finger nucleases in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2232–2237
- Lor VS, Starker CG, Voytas DF, Weiss D, Olszewski NE (2014) Targeted mutagenesis of the tomato PROCERA gene using transcription activator-like effector nucleases. Plant Physiol 166(3):1288–1291
- Lowe K, Wu E, Wang N et al (2016) Morphogenic regulators baby boom and Wuschel improve monocot transformation. Plant Cell 28:1998–2015
- Ma L, Zhu F, Li Z, Zhang J, Li X, Dong J, Wang T (2015) TALEN-based mutagenesis of lipoxygenase LOX3 enhances the storage tolerance of rice (*Oryza sativa*) seeds. PLoS One 10(12):e0143877. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143877
- Maeder ML, Thibodeau-Beganny S, Osiak A et al (2008) Rapid "open-source" engineering of customized zincfinger nucleases for highly efficient gene modification. Mol Cell 31:294–301
- Mahender A, Anandan A, Pradhan SK, Pandit E (2016) Rice grain nutritional traits and their enhancement using relevant genes and QTLs through advanced approaches. Springer Plus 5:2086. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3744-6
- Mahendrakar MD, Parveda M, Kishor PBK et al (2020) Discovery and validation of candidate genes for grain iron and zinc metabolism in pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.]. Sci Rep 10:16562. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73241-7
- Maher MF, Nasti RA, Vollbrecht M et al (2020) Plant gene editing through de novo induction of meristems. Nat Biotechnol 38:84–89
- Mahjourimajd S, Taylor J, Rengel Z, Khabaz-Saberi H, Kuchel H, Okamoto M, Langridge P (2016) The genetic control of grain protein content under variable nitrogen supply in an Australian wheat mapping population. PLoS One 11(7):e0159371. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159371
- Majumder S, Datta K, Datta SK (2019) Rice biofortification: high iron, zinc, and vitamin-a to fight against "hidden hunger". Agronomy 9(12):803. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9120803
- Makarova KS, Wolf YI, Alkhnbashi OS et al (2015) An updated evolutionary classification of CRISPR–Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 13(11):722–736

- Mamo BE, Barber BL, Steffenson BJ (2014) Genome-wide association mapping of zinc and iron concentration in barley landraces from Ethiopia and Eritrea. J Cereal Sci 60(3):497–506
- Matres JM, Hilscher J, Datta A et al (2021) Genome editing in cereal crops: an overview. Transgenic Res 30:461–498
- Mickelson S, See D, Meyer FD, Garner JP, Foster CR, Blake TK, Fischer AM (2003) Mapping of QTL associated with nitrogen storage and remobilization in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) leaves. J Exp Bot 54(383):801–812
- Moehle EA, Rock JM, Lee YL et al (2007) Targeted gene addition into a specified location in the human genome using designed zinc finger nucleases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(14):3055–3060
- Mushtaq M, Sakina A, Wani SH, Shikari AB, Tripathi P, Zaid A, Galla A, Abdelrahman M, Sharma M, Singh AK, Salgotra RK (2019) Harnessing genome editing techniques to engineer disease resistance in plants. Front Plant Sci 10:550. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00550
- Muthusamy V, Hossain F, Nepolean T, Saha S, Gupta HS (2015) Allelic variations for *lycopene-* $\varepsilon$ *-cyclase* and  $\beta$ *-carotene hydroxylase* genes in maize inbreds and their utilization in  $\beta$ -carotene enrichment programme. Cogent Food Agric 1(1):1033141. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331193 2.2015.1033141
- Paine JA, Shipton CA, Chaggar S et al (2005) Improving the nutritional value of Golden Rice through increased pro-vitamin a content. Nat Biotechnol 23:482–487
- Park S, Joung Y, Kim K, Kim J, Koh H (2019) Gene-edited crops: present status and their future. Korean J Breed Sci 51:175–183
- Peng B, Wang L, Fan C et al (2014) Comparative mapping of chalkiness components in rice using five populations across two environments. BMC Genet 15:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2156-15-49
- Petolino JF (2015) Genome editing in plants via designed zinc finger nucleases. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 51:1–8
- Pradhan SK, Pandit E, Pawar S, Bharati B, Chatopadhyay K, Singh S, Dash P, Reddy JN (2019) Association mapping reveals multiple QTLs for grain protein content in rice useful for biofortification. Mol Gen Genomics 294(4):963–983
- Pradhan SK, Pandit E, Pawar S et al (2020) Linkage disequilibrium mapping for grain Fe and Zn enhancing QTLs useful for nutrient dense rice breeding. BMC Plant Biol 20(1):57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-2262-4
- Prasanna BM, Palacios-Rojas N, Hossain F et al (2020) Molecular breeding for nutritionally enriched maize: status and prospects. Front Genet 10:1392. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fgene.2019.01392
- Priti, Jangra S, Kamboj D, Yadav NR, Yadav RC (2018) Crop genomic for food security. In: Yadav PK, Kumar S, Kumar S, Yadav RC (eds) Crop improvement for sustainability, pp 361–377
- Pujar M, Gangaprasad S, Govindaraj M et al (2020) Genome-wide association study uncovers genomic regions associated with grain iron, zinc and protein content in pearl millet. Sci Rep 10:19473. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76230-y
- Qi W, Zhu T, Tian Z, Li C, Zhang W, Song R (2016) High-efficiency CRISPR/Cas9 multiplex gene editing using the glycine tRNA-processing system-based strategy in maize. BMC Biotechnol 16:58. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-016-0289-2
- Qi X, Wu H, Jiang H, Zhu J, Huang C, Zhang X, Liu C, Cheng B (2020) Conversion of a normal maize hybrid into a waxy version using in vivo CRISPR/Cas9 targeted mutation activity. Crop J 8(3):440–448
- Qin Y, Kim SM, Sohn JK (2009) QTL analysis of protein content in double-haploid lines of rice. Korean J Crop Sci 54(2):165–171
- Rani A, Taunk J, Jangra S, Yadav RC, Yadav NR, Yadav D, Yadav HP (2021) Development of advance pearl millet lines tolerant to terminal drought stress using marker-assisted selection. Vegetos 35:63–73

- Reddy CS, Babu AP, Swamy BPM, Kaladhar K, Sarala N (2009) ISSR marker based on GA and AG repeats reveal genetic relationship among rice varieties tolerant to drought, flood, salinity. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 10:133–141
- Regina A, Bird A, Topping D et al (2006) High-amylose wheat generated by RNA interference improves indices of large-bowel health in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:3546–3551
- Remy S, Tesson L, Menoret S, Usal C, Scharenberg AM, Anegon I (2010) Zinc-finger nucleases: a powerful tool for genetic engineering of animals. Transgenic Res 19:363–371
- Sadeghzadeh B, Rengel Z, Li C (2015) Quantitative trait loci (QTL) of seed Zn accumulation in barley population clipper X Sahara. J Plant Nutr 38:1672–1684
- Saini DK, Devi P, Kaushik P (2020) Advances in genomic interventions for wheat biofortification: a review. Agronomy 10(1):62. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10010062
- Sánchez-León S, Gil-Humanes J, Ozuna CV, Giménez MJ, Sousa C, Voytas DF, Barro F (2018) Low-gluten, nontransgenic wheat engineered with CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J 16(4):902–910
- Schmidt RJ, Burr FA, Aukerman MJ, Burr B (1990) Maize regulatory gene *opaque-2* encodes a protein with a leucine zipper motif that binds to zein DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:46–50
- See D, Kanazin V, Kephart K, Blake T (2002) Mapping genes controlling variation in barley grain protein concentration. Crop Sci 42(3):680–685
- Shan Q, Zhang Y, Chen K, Zhang K, Gao C (2015) Creation of fragrant rice by targeted knockout of the *OsBADH2* gene using TALEN technology. Plant Biotechnol J 13(6):791–800
- Shao G, Xie L, Jiao G, Wei X, Sheng Z, Tang S, Peisong H (2017) CAS9-mediated editing of the fragrant gene *Badh2* in rice. Chin J Rice Sci 31:216–222
- Shmakov S, Smargon A, Scott D et al (2017) Diversity and evolution of class 2 CRISPR–Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 15:169–182
- Shukla VK, Doyon Y, Miller JC et al (2009) Precise genome modification in the crop species Zea mays using zinc-finger nucleases. Nature 459:437–441
- Singh AK, Gopalakrishnan S, Singh VP et al (2011) Marker assisted selection: a paradigm shift in basmati breeding. Indian J Genet 71:120–128
- Singhal T, Satyavathi CT, Singh SP et al (2021) Multi-environment quantitative trait loci mapping for grain iron and zinc content using bi-parental recombinant inbred line mapping population in pearl millet. Front Plant Sci 12:659789. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.659789
- Srinivasa J, Arun B, Mishra VK et al (2014) Zinc and iron concentration QTL mapped in a *Triticum* spelta × *T. aestivum* cross. Theor Appl Genet 127:1643–1651
- Suman K, Neeraja CN, Madhubabu P et al (2021) Identification of promising RILs for high grain zinc through genotype × environment analysis and stable grain zinc QTL using SSRs and SNPs in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Front Plant Sci 12:587482. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.587482
- Sun Y, Thompson M, Lin G, Butler H, Gao Z, Thornburgh S, Yau K, Smith DA, Shukla VK (2007) Inositol 1, 3, 4, 5, 6-pentakisphosphate 2-kinase from maize: molecular and biochemical characterization. Plant Physiol 144:1278–1291
- Sun H, Lu J, Fan Y, Zhao Y, Kong F, Li R, Wang H, Li S (2008) Quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for quality traits related to protein and starch in wheat. Prog Nat Sci 18:825–831
- Sun X, Wu K, Zhao Y, Qian Z, Kong F, Guo Y, Wang Y, Li S (2016) Molecular genetic analysis of grain protein content and flour whiteness degree using RILs in common wheat. J Genet 95(2):317–324
- Sun Y, Jiao G, Liu Z, Zhang X, Li J, Guo X, Du W, Du J, Francis F, Zhao Y, Xia L (2017) Generation of high-amylose rice through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of starch branching enzymes. Front Plant Sci 8:298. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00298
- Swamy B, Kaladhar K, Anuradha K, Batchu AK, Longvah T, Sarla N (2018) QTL analysis for grain iron and zinc concentrations in two O. nivara derived backcross populations. Rice Sci 25:197–207
- Swamy BPM, Marathi B, Ribeiro-Barros AIF, Ricachenevsky FK (2021) Editorial: development of healthy and nutritious cereals: recent insights on molecular advances in breeding. Front Genet 12:635006. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2021.635006

- Taira H, Nakagahra M, Nagamine T (1988) Fatty acid composition of Indica, Sinica, Javanica, japonica groups of nonglutinous brown rice. J Agric Food Chem 36(1):45–47
- Tan YF, Sun M, Xing Y et al (2001) Mapping quantitative trait loci for milling quality, protein content and color characteristics of rice using a recombinant inbred line population derived from an elite rice hybrid. Theor Appl Genet 103:1037–1045
- Terasawa Y, Ito M, Tabiki T, Nagasawa K, Hatta K, Nishio Z (2016) Mapping of a major QTL associated with protein content on chromosome 2B in hard red winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Breed Sci 66(4):471–480
- Tiwari C, Wallwork H, Arun B et al (2016) Molecular mapping of quantitative trait loci for zinc, iron and protein content in the grains of hexaploid wheat. Euphytica 207:563–570
- Townsend JA, Wright DA, Winfrey RJ, Fu F, Maeder ML, Joung JK, Voytas DF (2009) High frequency modification of plant genes using engineered zinc finger nucleases. Nature 459:442. https://doi.org/10.1038/2Fnature07845
- Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Dromey JA et al (2010) Comprehensive, quantitative mapping of T cell epitopes in gluten in celiac disease. Sci Transl Med:2:41ra51. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3001012
- Usman B, Nawaz G, Zhao N, Liu Y, Li R (2020) Generation of high yielding and fragrant rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) lines by CRISPR/Cas9 targeted mutagenesis of three homoeologs of cytochrome P450 gene family and *OsBADH2* and transcriptome and proteome profiling of revealed changes triggered by mutations. Plan Theory 9(6):788. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9060788
- Velu G, Tutus Y, Gomez-Becerra HF et al (2017) QTL mapping for grain zinc and iron concentrations and zinc efficiency in a tetraploid and hexaploid wheat mapping populations. Plant Soil 411:81–99
- Velu G, Singh RP, Crespo-Herrera L et al (2018) Genetic dissection of grain zinc concentration in spring wheat for mainstreaming biofortification in CIMMYT wheat breeding. Sci Rep 8:13526. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31951-z
- Vivek BS, Krivanek AF, Palacios-Rojas N, Twumasi-Afriyie S, Diallo AO (2008) Breeding quality protein maize (QPM): protocols for developing QPM cultivars. CIMMYT, Mexico, D.F.
- Vlčko T, Ohnoutková L (2020) Allelic variants of CRISPR/Cas9 induced mutation in an inositol trisphosphate 5/6 kinase gene manifest different phenotypes in barley. Plan Theory 9:195. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9020195
- Waltz E (2016) CRISPR-edited crops free to enter market, skip regulation. Nat Biotechnol 34:582. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0616-582
- Waltz E (2018) With a free pass, CRISPR-edited plants reach market in record time. Nat Biotechnol 36:6–7
- Wang L, Cui F, Wang J et al (2012) Conditional QTL mapping of protein content in wheat with respect to grain yield and its components. J Genet 91(3):303–312
- Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, Zhang Y, Liu J, Gao C, Qiu JL (2014) Simultaneous editing of three homoeo alleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotech 32:947–952
- Wang B, Zhu L, Zhao B, Zhao Y, Xie Y, Zheng Z, Li Y, Sun J, Wang H (2019) Development of a haploid-inducer mediated genome editing system for accelerating maize breeding. Mol Plant 12(4):597–602
- Wang Y, Liu X, Zheng X, Wang W, Yin X, Liu H, Ma C, Niu X, Zhu J, Wang F (2021a) Creation of aromatic maize by CRISPR/Cas. J Integr Plant Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/jipb.13105
- Wang Y, Xu X, Hao Y et al (2021b) QTL mapping for grain zinc and iron concentrations in bread wheat. Front Nutr 8:680391. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.680391
- Wendt T, Holm PB, Starker CG, Christian M, Voytas DF, Brinch-Pedersen H, Holme IB (2013) TAL effector nucleases induce mutations at a pre-selected location in the genome of primary barley transformants. Plant Mol Biol 83(3):279–285
- White PJ, Broadley MR (2005) Biofortifying crops with essential mineral elements. Trends Plant Sci 10(12):586–593
- Wright DA, Townsend JA, Winfrey RJ Jr et al (2005) High-frequency homologous recombination in plants mediated by zinc-finger nucleases. Plant J 44:693–705

- Wu YB, Li G, Zhu YJ et al (2020) Genome-wide identification of QTLs for grain protein content based on genotyping-by-resequencing and verification of *qGPC1-1* in rice. Int J Mol Sci 21(2):408. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21020408
- Xu Q, Zheng T-Q, Hu X et al (2015) Examining two sets of introgression lines in rice (*Oryza* sativa L.) reveals favorable alleles that improve grain Zn and Fe concentrations. PLoS One 10:e0131846. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131846
- Yadav RC, Jangra S, Yadav NR (2018) Pros and cons of GM crops. In: Yadav PK, Kumar S, Kumar S, Yadav RC (eds) Crop improvement for sustainability, pp 330–342
- Yadava DK, Choudhury PR, Hossain F, Kumar D, Mohapatra T (2020) Biofortified varieties: Sustainable way to alleviate malnutrition (Third Edition). Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi. p:86
- Yang Y, Guo M, Li R et al (2015) Identification of quantitative trait loci responsible for rice grain protein content using chromosome segment substitution lines and fine mapping of *qPC-1* in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Mol Breed 35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-015-0328-z
- Yang Q, Zhong XJ, Li Q et al (2020) Mutation of the D-hordein gene by RNA-guided Cas9 targeted editing reducing the grain size and changing grain compositions in barley. Food Chem 311:125892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125892
- Yu YH, Li G, Fan YY, Zhang KQ, Min J, Zhu ZW, Zhuang JY (2009) Genetic relationship between grain yield and the contents of protein and fat in a recombinant inbred population of rice. J Cereal Sci 50(1):121–125
- Yun BW, Kim MG, Handoyo T, Kim KM (2014) Analysis of rice grain quality associated quantitative trait loci by using genetic mapping. Am J Plant Sci 5:1125–1132
- Yunyan F, Jie Y, Fangquan W, Fangjun F, Wenqi L, Jun W, Yang X, Jinyan Z, Weigong Z (2019) Production of two elite glutinous rice varieties by editing *wx* gene. Rice Sci 26(2):118–124
- Zafar K, Sedeek KEM, Rao GS et al (2020) Genome editing technologies for rice improvement: progress, prospects, and safety concerns. Front Genome Ed 2:5. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fgeed.2020.00005
- Zaidi SS, Mahas A, Vanderschuren H, Mahfouz MM (2020) Engineering crops of the future: CRISPR approaches to develop climate-resilient and disease-resistant plants. Genome Biol 21(1):289. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-020-02204-y
- Zeng D, Liu T, Ma X, Wang B, Zheng Z, Zhang Y, Xie X, Yang B, Zhao Z, Zhu Q, Liu YG (2020) Quantitative regulation of waxy expression by CRISPR/Cas9-based promoter and 5'UTRintron editing improves grain quality in rice. Plant Biotechnol J 12:2385–2387
- Zhang W, Bi J, Chen L et al (2008) QTL mapping for crude protein and protein fraction contents in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J Cereal Sci 48:539–547
- Zhang M, Pinson SR, Tarpley L et al (2014) Mapping and validation of quantitative trait loci associated with concentrations of 16 elements in unmilled rice grain. Theor Appl Genet 127:137–165
- Zhang J, Zhang H, Botella JR, Zhu JK (2018a) Generation of new glutinous rice by CRISPR/Cas9targeted mutagenesis of the waxy gene in elite rice varieties. J Integr Plant Biol 60(5):369–375
- Zhang S, Zhang R, Song G et al (2018b) Targeted mutagenesis using the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated CRISPR-Cas9 system in common wheat. BMC Plant Biol 18:302. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-018-1496-x
- Zhang D, Hussain A, Manghwar H et al (2020) Genome editing with the CRISPR-Cas system: an art, ethics and global regulatory perspective. Plant Biotechnol J 18(8):1651–1669
- Zhang S, Zhang R, Gao J, Song G, Li J, Li W, Qi Y, Li Y, Li G (2021) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing for wheat grain quality improvement. Plant Biotechnol J. https://doi. org/10.1111/pbi.13647
- Zhong M et al (2011) Identification of QTL affecting protein and amino acid contents in rice. Rice Sci 18(3):187–195
- Zhu Y, Lin Y, Chen S, Liu H, Chen Z, Fan M, Hu T, Mei F, Chen J, Chen L, Wang F (2019) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated functional recovery of the recessive rc allele to develop red rice. Plant Biotechnol J 11:2096–2105